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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

 
MARY KAY INC. 
 
                             Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
 
AMY DUNLAP 
 
                           Defendant. 
 

CASE NO.: 3:12-cv-00029-D 
 
DEFENDANT’S ANSWER AND  
COUNTERCLAIM: 
COUNT 1--DECEPTIVE TRADE    
PRACTICES; 
COUNT 2--VIOLATIONS OF 
FEDERAL ANTITRUST LAWS; 
COUNT 3-- ALTERNATIVE CLAIM 
FOR REFORMED AGREEMENT. 
 

   
 
     COMES NOW the Defendant and for her Answer and Counterclaim admits, 

denies and alleges as follows:  

I.  GENERAL DENIAL  

1. Defendant enters her general denial to the allegations contained in the 

Original Petition of the Plaintiff Mary Kay Inc. (hereinafter “Mary Kay” or 

“Plaintiff”) except that she admits she resides in Troy, Missouri. 

II.  SPECIAL DENIAL 

2. Defendant specially denies the allegations contained in paragraph 18 of the 

Original Petition regarding attorneys’ fees. 
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III.  AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

3. Defendant affirmatively alleges that this Court has jurisdiction of this case 

under the provisions of 28 U.S.C. §§1332, 1441, and 1446 on the following 

grounds: 

a. This Court has diversity jurisdiction over this case because the 

Plaintiff has its principal place of business in Texas, and  

b. Defendant is a citizen of the State of Missouri, where she resides in 

Troy, Missouri.  The amount in controversy exceeds $75,000.00. 

c. Defendant timely filed a Notice of Removal to this Court. 

4.  Plaintiff is barred from recovery by reason of estoppel, failure of 

consideration, illegality, ratification and waiver. 

5. This case should be transferred to, and venue properly lies in, the District 

where Defendant resides, the District Court of Missouri, located in St. 

Louis, Missouri. 

6. Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

7. Plaintiff is barred from recovery herein by reason of its violations of  the 

provisions of §17.46 of the Texas Business and Commerce Code making it 
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unlawful to engage in false, misleading, and deceptive acts and practices in 

the sales of services, which services are described in Plaintiff’s 

“Independent National Sales Director Agreement,” a true and correct copy 

of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A,” as the sale of an “independent 

dealer” business opportunity to Defendant, with Defendant as the consumer 

of said services under § 17.45 of the Texas Business and Commerce Code.  

Defendant is entitled to an award of reasonable and necessary attorneys’ 

fees and court costs pursuant to the provisions of §17.50(d) of said Code, 

under § 38.001 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code, and under 

applicable law, for being required to defend herself from Plaintiff’s attempt 

to enforce its false, misleading, and deceptive agreement. 

8. Under the provisions of the Texas Business and Commerce Code adopted in 

Texas, Mary Kay violated the provisions of § 2.210(b) of the Texas 

Business & Commerce Code which renders Section 13 of the 

Independent National Sales Director Agreement ineffective.  That 

statutory provision requires that contractual rights such as are provided for 

in the National Sales Director Agreement are assignable thereby allowing 

Defendant Dunlap’s business to be assigned or otherwise transferred by gift 
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or will.  Defendant is entitled to an award of reasonable and necessary 

attorneys’ fees and court costs pursuant to the provisions of §17.50(d) for 

being required to defend herself from Plaintiff’s attempt to enforce its false, 

misleading, and deceptive agreement. 

9. Alternatively, if the Court finds that the Agreement attached hereto as 

Exhibit “A” is not null and void under the defenses set forth above, and that 

the covenant not to compete contained in it is ancillary to an otherwise 

enforceable agreement, the provisions relating to a purported non-

competition clause contained in Plaintiff’s “Independent National Sales 

Director Agreement,”  Exhibit “A” hereto are totally devoid of any 

geographic limitation, lack a reasonable time limitation, the scope of 

activity to be restrained is unreasonable, and purports to impose restraints 

that are greater than necessary to protect the goodwill or other business 

interest of Plaintiff and therefore said Agreement is a violation of § 15.05 et 

seq. of the Texas Business and Commerce Code.  As such, said non-

compete is unenforceable unless appropriately reformed by the Court 

pursuant to § 15.51 of the Texas Business and Commerce Code, subject to 
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an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs to Defendant under said 

section. 

WHEREFORE, Defendant prays: 

1.  For dismissal of Plaintiff’s Complaint, the Plaintiff taking nothing     
thereby; 

2. For an award of her reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 
§§ 15.51, and 17.50(d) of the Texas Business and Commerce Code as 
well as under § 38.001 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies 
Code; 

3. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just. 

 
IV.  COUNTERCLAIM 

1.  DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES 

10.  The Defendant realleges each and every allegation set forth hereinabove as 

though fully set forth herein. 

11.  Mary Kay, in the conduct of its multilevel marketing business, has engaged in 

false, misleading, and deceptive acts and practices, as the purveyor and seller of an 

Independent Business Consultant business to Defendant and the many other 

Independent Beauty Consultants, Unit Independent Sales Directors, and National 

Sales Directors similarly situated to her, which acts and practices are unlawful 

under the provisions of §17.46 of the Texas Business and Commerce Code. 
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12.  By agreeing to acquire her beauty consulting business as an independent 

contractor, entrepreneur and the owner of her own business as a result of her 

contracts with Mary Kay, Defendant was a consumer of the Defendant’s services 

as that term is defined under §17.45 of the Texas Business and Commerce Code, 

having relied on the written and oral representations of Plaintiff that, as an 

“independent dealer” she was the owner of her own business.  Throughout her 

relationship with Mary Kay, until the very end, she was deceived by the 

company’s continuous, non-stop, orchestrated campaign through speeches at the 

annual Seminars, business opportunity meetings, CDs, DVDs, cassette/VCR tapes, 

brochures, letters and emails, representing to her and the other Consultants in her 

National Sales Director Unit, and throughout the company for that matter, that 

they were being provided by Mary Kay the business opportunity of “owning” their 

“own business.”  

13.  Mary Kay, among other deceptive practices, has repeatedly represented to 

Defendendant, its other Independent Beauty Consultants, Unit Independent Sales 

Directors, and Independent National Sales Directors that their status as such 

independent contractors affords them the complete ownership of their “own 

business” which is a deliberate falsehood inasmuch as the Plaintiff’s executives 
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are all well aware of the fact that Mary Kay strictly forbids its Consultants, Sales 

Directors, and National Sales Directors to sell, transfer or will their “businesses,” 

and wrongfully enjoys the fruits of the labors of those independent contractors by 

forfeiture of their right to receive the “income stream” or value of it when they die, 

leave or are terminated by Mary Kay.  These trade practices of Mary Kay were 

misleading, deceptive, and false in that Mary Kay never compensated Defendant 

for her business after taking it from her without compensation when she resigned 

as National Sales Director, and would not allow her to sell or will her “business.”  

Under the provisions of the Texas Business and Commerce Code, Mary Kay 

violated the provisions of § 2.210(b) of the Texas Business & Commerce Code 

which renders Section 13 of the Independent National Sales Director Agreement 

(Exhibit “A” hereto) void since that section requires that contractual rights such 

as are provided for in the Independent National Sales Director Agreement are 

assignable thereby allowing Defendant Dunlap’s business to be assigned or 

otherwise transferred by gift or will.  Defendant is entitled to an award of 

reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees and court costs pursuant to the provisions 

of §17.50(d) for being required to defend herself from Plaintiff’s attempt to 

enforce its false, misleading, and deceptive agreement. 

Case 3:12-cv-00029-D   Document 17    Filed 02/01/12    Page 7 of 13   PageID 64



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
______________________________ 
DEFENDANT’S ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM 

8 

14.  The intentionally false, misleading and deceptive acts which are complained 

of in this Counterclaim have been committed knowingly, and intentionally, giving 

rise to damages for mental anguish, including intense and continuous feelings of  

humiliation suffered by Defendant at the hands of the Plaintiff, as well as the 

economic damages suffered by the Defendant herein, in an amount which is 

presently unascertained but which Defendant believes to be in excess of 

$1,000,000.00, which amount should be trebled under the provisions of §17.50 of 

the Texas Business and Commerce Code, making the total amount of her damages 

not less than $3,000,000.00 . 

15.  Plaintiff should be enjoined by this Court under §17.50(b)(2) from engaging 

in any false, deceptive, and/or misleading acts as are outlawed by Deceptive Trade 

Practices and Consumer Protection statutes, §17.46 et seq. of the Texas Business 

and Commerce Code in the conduct of its business. 

16.  Defendant is entitled to an award of reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees 

and court costs pursuant to the provisions of §17.50(d). 

 WHEREFORE Defendant prays for Judgment as follows: 

1. An order declaring the Independent National Sales Director Agreement 
null and void, and enjoining Plaintiff Mary Kay from engaging in any false, 
deceptive, and/or misleading acts as are outlawed by Deceptive Trade 
Practices and Consumer Protection statutes, §17.46 et seq. of the Texas 
Business and Commerce Code in the conduct of its business; 
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2. Compensatory damages sufficient to compensate the Defendant for 

economic losses and mental anguish in an amount which is presently 
unascertained but which Defendant believes to be in excess of 
$1,000,000.00, which amount should be trebled under the provisions of 
§17.50 of the Texas Business and Commerce Code, making the total 
amount of her damages not less than $3,000,000.00 . 

 
3. Reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees under the statutes pled 

hereinabove in this Answer and Counterclaim; 
 

4. Costs, and such other and further relief as the Court deems just. 
 

 

2.  VIOLATIONS OF FEDERAL ANTITRUST LAWS 

17.  Defendant realleges each and every allegation contained hereinabove as 

though fully set forth herein. 

18.  The anti-competitive actions referenced herein constitute restraints of trade 

which have long been prohibited under the provisions of the Sherman and Clayton 

Acts, 15 U.S.C. Section 1, et seq.   

19.  The anti-competition covenants on which Plaintiff insists every Mary Kay 

independent consultant sign, whether an Independent Beauty Consultant, Unit 

Independent Sales Director, or Independent National Sales Director such as the 

Defendant herein, are part of a concerted and effective effort by Plaintiff to 

vertically restrain trade by tying up and eliminating potential competition from 

Case 3:12-cv-00029-D   Document 17    Filed 02/01/12    Page 9 of 13   PageID 66



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
______________________________ 
DEFENDANT’S ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM 

10 

Plaintiff’s independent contractors and other direct sales companies much smaller 

than Plaintiff who sell cosmetic products similar to Plaintiff’s line of cosmetic 

products, particularly in, but not limited to, the Texas market.  Plaintiff is 

attempting to restrain Defendant by use of its unlawful non-compete agreement 

from competing with Plaintiff and those other independent contractors with whom 

Defendant seeks to recruit to assist her in building her current direct sales 

business.  Such restraints by Plaintiff are unreasonable, and because Plaintiff has 

exerted such tight control over its independent contractors, particularly as it 

applies to attempts to do business in the Texas market for cosmetics, Defendant 

has been unfairly damaged, and the growth of her business stunted, economically 

in an undetermined amount but in no event less than $1,000,000.00 in her efforts 

to build her business in Texas and elsewhere subsequent to resigning as a National 

Sales Director with Plaintiff. 

20.  Under 15 U.S.C Section 15, Defendant is entitled to have her damages trebled 

and as such her damages as a result of the antitrust violations of Plaintiff total not 

less than $3,000,000.00.  Additionally, she is entitled to recover her attorneys’ fees 

and court costs under said antitrust statutes.  Finally, Defendant is entitled to 

injunctive relief against Plaintiff from continuing its antitrust violations directed 
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against her under 15 U.S.C. Section 26. 

WHEREFORE Defendant prays for Judgment as follows: 

1. An order declaring the Independent National Sales Director Agreement 
null and void; 
 

2. Compensatory damages sufficient to compensate the Defendant for her 
losses in an amount which is presently unascertained but which Defendant 
believes to be in excess of $1,000,000.00, which amount should be trebled 
making the total amount of her damages not less than $3,000,000.00 . 

 
3. Reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees under the statutes pled 

hereinabove in this Answer and Counterclaim; 
 

4. Costs, and such other and further relief as the Court deems just. 
 

3.  ALTERNATIVE CLAIM FOR REFORMED AGREEMENT 

21.  Defendant realleges each and every allegation contained hereinabove as 

though fully set forth herein. 

22.  In the event Defendant is not granted relief which voids the Independent 

National Sales Director Agreement (Exhibit “A” hereto), then Defendant is 

entitled to have the provisions of paragraph 8.10, and any other provisions which 

relate in any way to a non-compete agreement reformed.  If the Court finds that the 

Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is not null and void under the defenses 

and claims set forth above, and that the covenant not to compete contained in it is 
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ancillary to an otherwise enforceable agreement, then the provisions relating to a 

purported non-competition clause contained in Plaintiff’s “Independent National 

Sales Director Agreement,”  Exhibit “A” hereto are totally devoid of any 

geographic limitation, lack a reasonable time limitation, the scope of activity to be 

restrained is unreasonable, and purports to impose restraints that are greater than 

necessary to protect the goodwill or other business interest of Plaintiff.   

Therefore, said Agreement is in violation of § 15.05 et seq. of the Texas Business 

and Commerce Code.  As such, said non-compete is unenforceable unless 

appropriately reformed by the Court pursuant to § 15.51 of the Texas Business and 

Commerce Code, subject to an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs to 

Defendant under said section. 

WHEREFORE Defendant prays for Judgment as follows: 

1. An order declaring the Independent National Sales Director Agreement 
null and void, or in the alternative, reforming same with respect to the non-
compete provisions set forth therein; 

 
2. Reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees under the statutes pled 

hereinabove in this Answer and Counterclaim; 
 

3. Costs, and such other and further relief as the Court deems just. 
 

   Respectfully submitted this 1st day of February, 2012. 

/s/ David Eisenstein 
by, David G. Eisenstein, pro hac vice  
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LAW OFFICES OF DAVID G. EISENSTEIN, P.C. 
4027 Aidan Circle 
Carlsbad, California 92008 
(760) 730-7900 
(760) 730-7903 FAX 
Eisenlegal@aol.com  
attorney for the Defendant 
 
 

CERTIFICATE  OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing Defendant’s Answer and 
Counterclaim has been served on counsel for the Plaintiff as follows: 
[X] BY ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION: 
 
Through the United States District Court's ECF transmission to the 
following: 
 
CHRIS J. SCHWEGMANN, cschwegmann@lynllp.com 
JOHN T. COX, III, tcox@lynnllp.com  
LYNN TILLOTSON PINKER & COX 
2100 ROSS AVENUE, SUITE 2700 
DALLAS, TEXAS 75201 
 
Dated this 1st day of February, 2012 
 
/s/ David Eisenstein 
David Eisenstein 
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EXHIBIT A 
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